

# MAINE STATE LEGISLATURE

The following document is provided by the  
**LAW AND LEGISLATIVE DIGITAL LIBRARY**  
at the Maine State Law and Legislative Reference Library  
<http://legislature.maine.gov/lawlib>



Reproduced from electronic originals  
(may include minor formatting differences from printed original)

**LAWS**  
**OF THE**  
**STATE OF MAINE**

**AS PASSED BY THE**

**ONE HUNDRED AND TWENTY-SEVENTH LEGISLATURE**

**SECOND REGULAR SESSION**  
**January 6, 2016 to April 29, 2016**

**THE GENERAL EFFECTIVE DATE FOR**  
**SECOND REGULAR SESSION**  
**NON-EMERGENCY LAWS IS**  
**JULY 29, 2016**

**PUBLISHED BY THE REVISOR OF STATUTES**  
**IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE MAINE REVISED STATUTES ANNOTATED,**  
**TITLE 3, SECTION 163-A, SUBSECTION 4.**

---

---

**Augusta, Maine**  
**2016**

such program must meet the following requirements:

(1) If the participating customer is delinquent in payments under the program, the utility may undertake reasonable debt collection activities as approved by the commission and otherwise consistent with applicable law, but in no event may the customer's primary electric service be disconnected as a result of the customer's delinquency under the program nor may electric service to a heat pump serving as the only heating source for the customer be disconnected during the winter;

(2) The utility must allow participating customers to select a qualified 3rd-party heat pump seller and installer and must use qualified 3rd-party installers to maintain and repair the heat pumps provided to customers. To be qualified, an installer must be listed as a registered vendor by the Efficiency Maine Trust, as established in section 10103, for purposes of heat pump installations or determined qualified by the commission by rule if the Efficiency Maine Trust does not maintain a registry of vendors;

(3) The utility must provide participating customers with the option, through a plain language notice, to later buy the heat pump provided at reasonable terms approved by the commission;

(4) At any time, a participating customer may elect to have the customer's heat pump removed at no cost or penalty; and

(5) Before a customer elects to participate in the program, the customer must be provided a plain language notice comparing the costs of the program with the costs of directly purchasing a heat pump, including any applicable rebates or incentives available for purchasing such equipment.

**3. Utility to provide information.** A transmission and distribution utility that implements a program under this section shall, upon request from the commission, provide sufficient information to demonstrate that the program is meeting the requirements of this section. In addition, the utility shall provide a triennial report to the commission outlining the degree to which the program is meeting the needs of customers, including the needs of customers required to be targeted under this section.

Nothing in this section is intended to limit the authority of the commission to establish electric distribution rates for customers participating in a program under this section.

**Sec. 2. PL 2011, c. 637, §11**, as amended by PL 2013, c. 369, Pt. G, §§1 and 2, is repealed.

See title page for effective date.

**CHAPTER 447**

**S.P. 582 - L.D. 1484**

**An Act Regarding the Election Laws**

**Emergency preamble.** **Whereas**, acts and resolves of the Legislature do not become effective until 90 days after adjournment unless enacted as emergencies; and

**Whereas**, this legislation makes necessary changes to improve the administration of primary and general elections; and

**Whereas**, changes related to the administration of the primary election would not take effect until after the election unless enacted as emergency legislation; and

**Whereas**, in order to treat primary and general election candidates the same, these changes must be in effect for both elections in the same election year; and

**Whereas**, in the judgment of the Legislature, these facts create an emergency within the meaning of the Constitution of Maine and require the following legislation as immediately necessary for the preservation of the public peace, health and safety; now, therefore,

**Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:**

**Sec. 1. 21-A MRSA §101, sub-§1, ¶A**, as enacted by PL 2009, c. 538, §4, is amended to read:

A. Hold or be a candidate for any federal, state or county office;

**Sec. 2. 21-A MRSA §101, sub-§10**, as enacted by PL 2007, c. 455, §3, is amended to read:

**10. Ineligible to serve.** When a registrar or a member of the registrar's immediate family becomes a candidate for federal, state, local or county office in the electoral division in which the registrar is appointed, the registrar may not serve as registrar during the period beginning when the candidate files a petition to be a candidate or is nominated to be a replacement candidate until the time of election. The registrar shall instead appoint a deputy ~~to whom the municipality shall pay all associated costs who must be compensated by the municipality~~ for the duration of the deputy's temporary employment in that capacity.

**Sec. 3. 21-A MRSA §122, sub-§7**, as amended by PL 2005, c. 453, §19, is further amended to read:

**7. Record of names.** The names of voters who register by appearing in person before the registrar during the business days before election day under subsection 6 must be recorded as provided in either paragraph A or B:

A. The registrar shall, after finding an applicant qualified, issue a certificate requiring the voter's name and other required information to be written on the ~~original or any supplemental~~ incoming voting list at the voting place on election day. The certificate must be attached to, or included with, the incoming voting list and sealed as provided in section 698. Only one certificate may be recorded for any voter at an election; or

B. The registrar shall, after finding the applicant qualified, enter the voter's name and other information from the voter registration application into the central voter registration system and add it to the incoming voting list ~~or a supplemental incoming voting list~~. Before the polls are opened, the registrar shall deliver the incoming voting list ~~and any supplemental incoming voting list or lists~~ to the clerk. The inclusion of a person's name on ~~these lists~~ the incoming voting list will entitle the applicant to vote on election day. ~~All references in this Title to the use of the incoming voting list before, during and after election day are considered to include the supplemental incoming voting list or lists as provided in this paragraph.~~

**Sec. 4. 21-A MRSA §152, sub-§1, ¶A**, as amended by PL 2007, c. 455, §7, is repealed and the following enacted in its place:

A. The legal name of the voter, in one of the following combinations:

- (1) First name and last name;
- (2) First initial, middle name and last name;  
or
- (3) First name, middle name or middle initial and last name;

**Sec. 5. 21-A MRSA §152, sub-§1, ¶F**, as enacted by PL 1985, c. 161, §6, is amended to read:

F. Most recent prior residence where registered to vote, including the municipality, county and state, and the name under which previously registered, if changed, legal address and mailing address;

**Sec. 6. 21-A MRSA §181, sub-§1, ¶B**, as amended by PL 2003, c. 407, §14 and c. 689, Pt. B, §6, is repealed and the following enacted in its place:

B. Outside agencies, or their successors, which include the following:

(1) All state agencies that provide public assistance, including the Department of Health and Human Services and the offices within the department that provide assistance under the Temporary Assistance for Needy Families program under Title 22, chapter 1053-B, the Women, Infants and Children Special Supplemental Food Program of the United States Child Nutrition Act of 1966, the federal Medicaid program and the statewide food supplement program under Title 22, section 3104;

(2) The uniformed service recruitment offices;

(3) The public high schools;

(4) The offices of municipal clerks and registrars;

(5) The Department of Labor, Bureau of Rehabilitation Services; and

(6) All state agencies that provide state-funded programs primarily engaged in providing services to persons with disabilities.

**Sec. 7. 21-A MRSA §196-A, sub-§1, ¶B**, as amended by PL 2013, c. 330, §1, is further amended to read:

B. A political party, or an individual or organization engaged in so-called "get out the vote" efforts directly related to a campaign or other activities directly related to a campaign, or an individual who has been elected or appointed to and is currently serving in a municipal, county, state or federal office, may purchase a list or report of certain voter information from the central voter registration system by making a request to the Secretary of State or to a registrar if the information requested concerns voters in that municipality. The Secretary of State or the registrar shall make available the following voter record information, subject to the fees set forth in subsection 2: the voter's name, residence address, mailing address, year of birth, enrollment status, electoral districts, voter status, date of registration, date of change of the voter record if applicable, voter participation history, voter record number and any special designations indicating uniformed service voters, overseas voters or township voters. Any person obtaining, either directly or indirectly, information from the central voter registration system under this paragraph may not sell, distribute or use the data for any purpose that is not directly related to activities of a political party, "get out the vote" efforts directly related to a campaign or other activities directly related to a campaign. This paragraph does not prohibit political parties, party committees, candidate committees, political action committees or any other organizations that

have purchased information from the central voter registration system from providing access to such information to their members for purposes directly related to party activities, "get out the vote" efforts or a campaign. For purposes of this paragraph, "campaign" has the same meaning as in section 1052, subsection 1.

**Sec. 8. 21-A MRSA §331, sub-§1**, as enacted by PL 1985, c. 161, §6, is amended to read:

**1. Nomination by primary election.** A party's nomination of a candidate ~~for any federal, state or county office shall~~ must be made by primary election, as provided in this Article. When there is an office for which no candidate has qualified either by filing a petition and consent under sections 335 and 336 or as a write-in candidate in accordance with section 722-A, the Secretary of State is not required to list the office on the primary ballot. The Secretary of State is not required to print a primary ballot if there are no offices for which a candidate has qualified.

**Sec. 9. 21-A MRSA §363, sub-§3**, as amended by PL 2011, c. 239, §3, is further amended to read:

**3. Acceptance filed.** A person chosen under this section must file a written acceptance containing a statement that the person meets the qualifications of the office sought and declaring the person's residence and party enrollment with the Secretary of State. The Secretary of State shall provide a form ~~on which the statement is made by the candidate for the candidate's acceptance~~ that must include a list of the statutory and constitutional requirements of the office sought by the candidate. The form also must include a place for the registrar of the candidate's municipality of residence to certify the candidate's registration and enrollment status.

**Sec. 10. 21-A MRSA §367**, as amended by PL 1995, c. 459, §31, is further amended to read:

**§367. Candidate withdrawal**

A candidate who wishes to withdraw from an elective race shall notify the Secretary of State in writing of the candidate's intent to withdraw. This notice must be signed by the candidate. If the reason for the withdrawal is catastrophic illness, condition or injury, the procedures set forth in section 374-A, subsection 1, paragraph B must be complied with if the candidate is to be replaced.

**Sec. 11. 21-A MRSA §371**, as amended by PL 2011, c. 342, §11, is further amended to read:

**§371. Candidates for nomination; vacancy**

If a candidate for nomination dies, withdraws at least 60 70 days before the primary or becomes disqualified after having filed the candidate's primary petition, so that a party has fewer candidates than there

are offices to be filled, the vacancy may be filled by a political committee pursuant to section 363. The Secretary of State shall declare the vacancy pursuant to section 362-A. Less than 60 70 days before the primary election, a candidate may withdraw from the primary by providing a written notice to the Secretary of State that the candidate is withdrawing and will not serve if elected. The candidate's name will not be removed from the ballot, but upon receipt of the notice of late withdrawal, the Secretary of State shall instruct the local election officials in the candidate's electoral district to distribute notices with absentee ballots requested after that date and to post a notice at each voting place in the district informing voters that the candidate has withdrawn and that a vote for that candidate will not be counted. Notice of the late withdrawal must also be posted on the Secretary of State's publicly accessible website.

**Sec. 12. 21-A MRSA §374-A, sub-§1, ¶B**, as enacted by PL 1989, c. 341, §2, is amended to read:

B. Withdraws because of a catastrophic illness, condition or injury that has permanently and continuously incapacitated the candidate and would prevent performance of the duties of the office sought, ~~provided as long as~~ the candidate or a member of the candidate's immediate family files with the Secretary of State a certificate accompanying the withdrawal request, ~~which that~~ describes the illness, condition or injury and is signed by ~~at least 2~~ a licensed physicians physician; or

**Sec. 13. 21-A MRSA §374-A, sub-§3**, as amended by PL 2011, c. 342, §13, is further amended to read:

**3. Deadline for withdrawal.** A candidate for an office on the general election ballot must withdraw at least 60 70 days before the general election in order for the candidate's name to be removed from the ballot. Less than 60 70 days before the general election, a candidate may withdraw from the election by providing a written notice to the Secretary of State that the candidate is withdrawing and will not serve if elected. The candidate's name will not be removed from the ballot, but upon receipt of the notice of late withdrawal, the Secretary of State shall instruct the local election officials in the candidate's electoral district to distribute notices with absentee ballots requested after that date and to post a notice at each voting place in the district informing voters that the candidate has withdrawn and that a vote for that candidate will not be counted. Notice of the late withdrawal must also be posted on the Secretary of State's publicly accessible website.

**Sec. 14. 21-A MRSA §375, sub-§2**, as amended by PL 1999, c. 426, §15, is further amended to read:

**2. Candidate for Vice President; death; withdrawal; disqualification.** If a candidate for Vice President who has been nominated by petition under section 354, subsection 1, paragraph B, dies, withdraws at least ~~60~~ 70 days before the election or becomes disqualified, the vacancy may be filled by a new vice-presidential candidate, if the following conditions are met:

- A. Written resignation is filed with the Secretary of State by the previous vice-presidential candidate, if the mental and physical condition of the candidate allows;
- B. Written consent is filed with the Secretary of State by the new vice-presidential candidate;
- C. Written acceptance of the new vice-presidential candidate is filed with the Secretary of State by the presidential candidate; and
- D. Written acceptance of the new vice-presidential candidate is filed with the Secretary of State by each of the presidential electors.

**Sec. 15. 21-A MRSA §376, sub-§1,** as amended by PL 1997, c. 436, §55, is further amended to read:

**1. Federal or gubernatorial office.** If a candidate or nominee for a federal or gubernatorial office withdraws less than ~~60~~ 70 days before any election, the Secretary of State is not required to produce new ballots.

**Sec. 16. 21-A MRSA §626, sub-§1,** as amended by PL 2011, c. 342, §18, is further amended to read:

**1. Opening time flexible.** The polls must be opened no earlier than 6 a.m. and no later than 8 a.m. on election day, except that in municipalities with a population of less than 500, the polls must be opened no later than 10:00 a.m. The municipal officers of each municipality shall determine the time of opening the polls within these limits. ~~The municipal clerk shall notify the Secretary of State of the poll opening times at least 30 days before each election conducted under this Title.~~

**Sec. 17. 21-A MRSA §626-A** is enacted to read:

**§626-A. Voting place report**

The municipal clerk shall file a voting place report at least 60 days before each election conducted under this Title, on a form designed by the Secretary of State, with information about each voting place, including, but not limited to, the location of each voting place, the poll opening time and the number of voting booths that will be used.

**Sec. 18. 21-A MRSA §671, sub-§2,** as amended by PL 2003, c. 584, §9, is repealed and the following enacted in its place:

**2. Name checked and ballot issued.** The election clerk in charge of the incoming voting list shall place a check mark or a horizontal line, in red ink, on the list beside the voter's name, and if there is more than one party or district ballot style used at that voting place, the election clerk must state in a loud, clear voice the party or district ballot style that the voter must be given. The election clerk in charge of the ballots shall give the voter one ballot of each kind to which the voter is entitled, and if there is more than one party or district ballot style used at that voting place, the election clerk must repeat the party or district ballot style being given to the voter. The voter must be given a ballot when the voter's name is checked on the incoming voting list and may not be referred to another location to obtain the ballot. A voter who will vote using the accessible voting system may not be given an official ballot, but may be given a sample ballot to use as a voting aid.

**Sec. 19. 21-A MRSA §671, sub-§3,** as amended by PL 2009, c. 253, §26, is repealed.

**Sec. 20. 21-A MRSA §671, sub-§4,** as amended by PL 1997, c. 436, §95, is further amended to read:

**4. Retires to voting booth.** After receiving the ballot or ballots, the voter shall retire to a voting booth and mark the ballot or ballots without delay and leave the voting booth. No ballot, marked or unmarked, may be left in the voting booth by the voter. If the voter is using the accessible voting system, an election official shall escort the voter to the voting station, instruct the voter on the proper use of the accessible voting system, provide the voter with access to all ballots to which the voter is entitled and permit the voter to cast the voter's ballot using the accessible voting system.

**Sec. 21. 21-A MRSA §671, sub-§5,** as amended by PL 2001, c. 310, §35, is further amended to read:

**5. Ballot deposited.** When the voter leaves the voting booth, the voter shall proceed to the ballot box. The clerk shall require the voter to deposit in the ballot box all ballots, marked or unmarked, issued to the voter under subsection ~~3~~ 2, and the voter shall then leave the area enclosed by the guardrail. The voter may not leave the guardrail enclosure until the voter has deposited all ballots that were issued to the voter. The voter may permit a family member or an assistant under section 672 to deposit the ballots for the voter.

**Sec. 22. 21-A MRSA §682, sub-§3,** as amended by PL 2009, c. 253, §27, is further amended to read:

**3. Advertising prohibited.** A person may not display advertising material; operate an advertising medium, including a sound amplification device; or display or distribute campaign literature, posters, palm cards, buttons, badges or stickers containing a candidate's name or otherwise intending to influence the opinion of any voter regarding a candidate or question that is on the ballot for the election that day on any public property located within 250 feet of the entrance to either the voting place or the building in which the registrar's office is located. The term "sound amplification device" includes, but is not limited to, sound trucks, loudspeakers and blowhorns.

A. This subsection does not apply to advertising material on automobiles traveling to and from the voting place for the purposes of voting. It does not prohibit a person who is at the polls solely for the purpose of voting from wearing a campaign button when the longest dimension of the button does not exceed 3 inches.

B. Nonpolitical charitable activities and other nonpolitical advertising may be allowed at the discretion of the clerk if arrangements are made prior to election day. If arrangements are not made in advance of the election day, the warden may, at the warden's discretion, either allow or prohibit nonpolitical charitable activities and other nonpolitical advertising.

**Sec. 23. 21-A MRSA §698, sub-§3,** as amended by PL 2007, c. 515, §6, is further amended to read:

**3. Incoming voting lists packed separately.** The warden and one election clerk from each of the major parties shall sign the incoming voting list certification as soon as the names of all persons who have voted, including persons who have voted by absentee ballot, have been checked off. The election clerks shall place the incoming voting list in a separate package outside the containers of used and unused ballots and seal the package with the signed incoming voting list certification. The incoming voting list includes any certificates entitling voters to be placed on the incoming voting list ~~and any supplemental incoming voting list, where applicable,~~ pursuant to section 122, subsection 7. The municipal clerk shall keep these incoming voting lists sealed for 5 business days after the election or until the time for any recount conducted under section 737-A, contested election or appeal has passed, whichever is longer. At the end of the 5th business day after the election, if the municipal clerk verifies that a recount has not been requested, the municipal clerk shall unseal the incoming voting list and keep it in the clerk's office as a public record for the time required pursuant to section 23.

**Sec. 24. 21-A MRSA §712,** as amended by PL 1993, c. 473, §27 and affected by §46, is further amended to read:

**§712. Return not delivered**

If an election return is not delivered to the Secretary of State ~~within 3 business days by 5 p.m. on the 3rd business day~~ after an election, the Secretary of State ~~shall~~ may send a ~~messenger courier~~ to the municipality concerned, and the clerk shall give that ~~messenger courier~~ a certified copy of the return. The municipality shall reimburse the Secretary of State for the costs of the courier service.

**Sec. 25. 21-A MRSA §721,** as amended by PL 2009, c. 253, §35, is further amended to read:

**§721. Reports of registration and enrollment**

Within ~~40~~ 15 business days after any statewide election, the registrar shall update all information in the central voter registration system for all voters in the municipality to reflect any voter registration activity after the incoming voting list was printed for that election and up until the close of the polls on election day. The registrar shall also enter any designations of challenged ballots in the applicable voter records in the central voter registration system. The registrar shall notify the Secretary of State as soon as these tasks are complete.

After the registrar has completed the update of the central voter registration system, as required by this section, and no later than ~~20~~ 45 business days after the election, unless a recount has been requested pursuant to section 737-A, the clerk shall update the central voter registration system by entering voter participation history for that election. The clerk shall notify the Secretary of State as soon as this task is completed.

In a municipality in which a recount has been requested pursuant to section 737-A, the clerk shall update the central voter registration system by entering voter participation history for that election within ~~40~~ 20 business days after receiving the incoming voting list that has been returned by the Secretary of State after the recount. The clerk shall notify the Secretary of State as soon as this task is completed.

**Sec. 26. 21-A MRSA §722-A,** as amended by PL 2009, c. 253, §37, is further amended to read:

**§722-A. Determination of declared write-in candidate**

To be considered a declared write-in candidate, a person must file a declaration of write-in candidacy with the Secretary of State, on a form approved by the Secretary of State, on or before 5 p.m. on the ~~45th~~ 60th day prior to the election. The candidate must meet all the other qualifications for that office.

**Sec. 27. 21-A MRSA §737-A, first ¶,** as amended by PL 2007, c. 515, §8, is further amended to read:

Once a recount is requested, the Secretary of State shall notify the State Police, who shall take physical

control of all ballots and related materials involved in the recount as soon as possible, except that for a statewide office or statewide referendum or an office or referendum that encompasses more than one county, the Secretary of State, in agreement with the parties involved in the recount, may direct the State Police to retrieve ballots from certain voting jurisdictions so that the recount may be conducted in stages until the requesting candidate or the lead applicant for a referendum recount concedes or until all the ballots are recounted.

**Sec. 28. 21-A MRSA §737-A, 4th ¶**, as enacted by PL 1993, c. 473, §31 and affected by §46, is amended to read:

If, after the official tabulation is submitted to the Governor, the apparent winner is determined the losing candidate, that candidate may request ~~another~~ a recount within 3 business days after the date the Governor receives the tabulation.

**Sec. 29. 21-A MRSA §737-A, sub-§1, ¶¶A and B**, as amended by PL 2003, c. 447, §25, are further amended to read:

A. If the percentage difference shown by the official tabulation between the leading candidate and the requesting candidate is ~~2%~~ 1.5% or less of the total votes cast for that office, a deposit is not required.

B. If the percentage difference shown by the official tabulation between the leading candidate and the requesting candidate is more than ~~2%~~ 1.5% and less than or equal to 4% of the total votes cast for that office, the deposit is \$500.

**Sec. 30. 21-A MRSA §777-A**, as amended by PL 2011, c. 534, §21, is further amended to read:

**§777-A. Registration and enrollment**

Notwithstanding the registration deadline in section 121-A, uniformed service voters or overseas voters may register or enroll at any time prior to 5 p.m. on election day by completing a federal or state voter registration application form and filing it with the registrar or the Secretary of State in person, by mail or by electronic means authorized by the Secretary of State.

**Sec. 31. 21-A MRSA §781-A**, as amended by PL 2011, c. 534, §22, is further amended to read:

**§781-A. Absentee ballot application; procedure on receipt**

Notwithstanding the absentee ballot application deadline in section 753-B, subsection 2, paragraph D, upon receipt of an application or written request for an absentee ballot prior to 5 p.m. on election day from a uniformed service voter or overseas voter that is accepted pursuant to section 753-A or section 783, the clerk or the Secretary of State shall immediately issue an absentee ballot and return envelope by the author-

ized means designated by the voter in the application. If the ballot is to be transmitted to the voter by mail, the clerk or the Secretary of State shall type or write in ink the name and the residence address of the voter in the designated section of the return envelope. The Secretary of State shall provide a return envelope that moves free of postage under federal law.

**Emergency clause.** In view of the emergency cited in the preamble, this legislation takes effect when approved.

Effective April 10, 2016.

**CHAPTER 448**

**H.P. 1069 - L.D. 1576**

**An Act To Amend Certain Education Laws**

**Emergency preamble.** Whereas, acts and resolves of the Legislature do not become effective until 90 days after adjournment unless enacted as emergencies; and

**Whereas**, the changes made by this legislation could affect budget meetings of school administrative units and town budgets; and

**Whereas**, it is necessary that this legislation take effect prior to the expiration of the 90-day period to allow towns to benefit from the legislation during the next annual budget process; and

**Whereas**, in the judgment of the Legislature, these facts create an emergency within the meaning of the Constitution of Maine and require the following legislation as immediately necessary for the preservation of the public peace, health and safety; now, therefore,

**Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:**

**Sec. 1. 20-A MRSA §254, sub-§19** is enacted to read:

**19. Designation of school to enroll certain students.** The commissioner may designate a school administrative unit as the receiving school administrative unit for a student who resides in a school administrative unit that neither maintains a school nor contracts for school privileges pursuant to chapter 115 and is unable to find a school administrative unit willing to enroll the student in one of its schools, upon a written request from the superintendent of the school administrative unit where the student resides setting forth the student's circumstances giving rise to the request.

A. If the commissioner makes a designation under this subsection, the school administrative unit where the student resides shall pay tuition for that